# Field Demonstration of Foamed Asphalt Muscatine County

Final Report for Iowa Highway Research Board Project HR-257

September 1988

Highway Division

Iowa Department of Transportation Final Report Iowa Highway Research Board Project HR-257

Field Demonstration of Foamed Asphalt Muscatine County

Вy

Robert K. Simmering, P.E. Muscatine County Engineer

and

Mark Callahan 515-239-1382 Office of Materials Iowa Department of Transportation

September 1988

#### DISCLAIMER

The opinions, findings and conclusions expressed in this report are those of the authors and not necessarily those of Muscatine County or the Iowa Department of Transportation.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	1
ABSTRACT	2
INTRODUCTION	3
OBJECTIVE	3
PROJECT DESCRIPTION	4
TEST SECTIONS	4
MATERIALS AND PROCEDURES	6
Mix Design Plant Operation	6 7
CONSTRUCTION	10
Preparation of the Subbase Foamed Asphalt Placement Correction of Problems Surface Treatment	10 10 12 13
CONSTRUCTION TESTING	14
Aggregate Moisture and Gradation Determination Foam Half-Life and Foam Ratio Determination Field and Laboratory Density Determination Moisture Loss Determination	14 15 16 17
SUGGESTED CONTROL AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS CHANGES	18
PROJECT COSTS	19
CONSTRUCTION SUMMARY	20
EVALUATION	21
Crack Survey Road Rater Road Meter	21 22 23
ANALYSIS	24
CONCLUSIONS	
RECOMMENDATIONS	25
Appendices	
<ul> <li>A. Special Provisions</li></ul>	26 29 31 34

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Research Project HR-257 was sponsored by the Iowa Highway Research Board and the Iowa Department of Transportation. Partial funding for this project was from the Secondary Road Research Fund in the amount of \$132,740.

The authors wish to extend appreciation to the Muscatine County Board of Supervisors and the Iowa DOT for their support in developing and conducting this project. We also wish to thank Illinois - Iowa Blacktop Inc. for their participation in the project. The Muscatine County inspection personnel also deserve recognition for the extra effort put forth on the project.

#### ABSTRACT

The foamed asphalt concept has been around since the 1950's. Rising oil prices have created a renewed interest in this process. The purpose of this project was to construct an asphalt base using the foamed asphalt process and to evaluate its performance.

A 4.2 mile length of Muscatine County road A-91 was selected for the research project. Asphalt contents of 4.5% and 5.5%, moisture contents of 70% and 90% of optimum, and fog, single chip, and double chip seal coats were used in various combinations to lay 9 test sections of 4-inch foamed asphalt base.

After five years of service and evaluation, several conclusions can be made concerning the performance of the foamed asphalt bases.

- The foamed asphalt process can work as shown by the excellent performance of Sections 2 and 3.
- Foamed asphalt base requires a well compacted subgrade and a road profile suitable for good drainage of water. Test section failures were mostly due to a poor subgrade and subsurface moisture.
- 3. When the base is placed in two or more lifts, extreme care must be exercised to insure adequate bonding is achieved between lifts.

Any future research with foamed asphalt should include various asphalt depths in order to determine a thickness/strength relationship for foamed asphalt.

PAGE 3

#### INTRODUCTION

Iowa has recently been investigating using foamed asphalt as a roadway base construction material. The foamed asphalt process is not new to Iowa. Ladis H. Csanyi, Iowa State University, developed the concept and demonstrated it in Iowa in the late 1950's as Iowa Highway Research Board Project HR-20. Today, over 30 years later, high costs for asphalt cement and for transportation of quality aggregate make the economics of foamed asphalt attractive.

The "Foamix" process (for which Conoco holds the U.S. marketing rights) involves injecting 1 to 2 percent water into hot asphalt cement in a special foaming chamber. A foam develops which is 10 to 20 times the original volume of the asphalt cement. Aggregates which may not meet gradation or quality standards for asphalt construction can be mixed with foamed asphalt and placed as a roadway base. Mixing the aggregates without heating and drying is another advantage of foamed asphalt.

Iowa Highway Research Board Project HR-212, "Treating Iowa's Marginal Aggregates and Soils by Foamix Process", conducted by Dah-Yinn Lee of Iowa State University involved a great deal of laboratory work with different Iowa materials and foamed asphalt. Research Project HR-257 was initiated with Muscatine County to incorporate the laboratory data into a field application to evaluate foamed asphalt as a roadway base.

#### OBJECTIVE

The objectives of the demonstration project were:

 To evaluate the performance of a base course constructed using foamed asphalt with locally available 3/8" minus limestone tailings and pit run sand.  To develop specifications and evaluate inspection and construction procedures.

#### PROJECT DESCRIPTION

A 4.2 mile section of Muscatine County Road A-91 was selected for the project (Figure 1). The road is located along the base of a bluff above the Mississippi River flood plain. The left portion of the road is in a cut section and the right portion of the road is in a fill section. The structure of the existing roadbed was a 1 1/2-inch built-up seal coat over a 1 1/2-inch limestone base. Average daily traffic is 230 to 240 vehicles per day.

#### TEST SECTIONS

Nine foamed asphalt base test sections were planned and constructed. The base was laid 4 inches thick and 22 feet wide. The sections are listed in TABLE I.

TABLE I TEST SECTIONS

Section No.	<u>Sta. to Sta.</u>	Asphalt Content (%)	Moisture (% of Optimum)	Surface Treatment
1	139 to 165	4.5	75	fog seal
2	165 to 180	4.5	90	fog seal
3	180 to 194	4.5	90	double chip seal
4	194 to 220	5.0	90	double chip seal
5	220 to 246	5.0	75	double chip seal
6	246 to 278	4.5	75	single chip seal
7	278 to 309	4.5	90	single chip seal
8	309 to 338	4.5	90	single chip seal
9	338 to 365	4.5	75	single chip seal



139+00

(305)

335+76.6 Bk.=

337+12.0 Ahd.

PAGE 6

#### MATERIALS AND PROCEDURES

Laboratory testing by Lee on IHRB Project HR-212 showed that several locally available materials in Iowa are suitable for foamed asphalt. One of the more promising materials is limestone screenings from the production of concrete stone.

#### Mix Design

Samples of limestone screenings and fill sand were obtained from Muscatine County for preliminary testing. Based on testing by Lee, specifications were developed for an aggregate blend of 50 percent limestone and 50 percent sand (Appendix A).

A pre-bid meeting was held with representatives of Conoco, the Iowa DOT, Muscatine County, an aggregate supplier and several contractors. At the meeting, Conoco representatives expressed concern over the low percentage of minus #200 sieve material specified. Foamed asphalt coats only the fine particles and past experience has shown that an aggregate with 10 to 30 percent passing the #200 sieve provides a satisfactory mix. Subsequently, the aggregate blend was adjusted to 70 percent limestone and 30 percent sand to increase the minus #200 material to a minimum of 8 percent for the combined aggregate. A typical combined aggregate gradation is in Table II.

TABLE II						
TYPICAL	COMBINED	AGGREGATE	GRADATION			

Sieve Size	Percent Passing
3/8"	99
#4	80
#8	61
#16	49
#30	40
#50	28
#100	17
#200	12

The limestone screenings were from the Wendling Quarries Inc., Moscow quarry and the sand was from Wendling's Atalissa McKillip pit. Iowa State University developed the job mix with a lab-size foaming unit. Mixes were compacted at room temperature and oven cured at  $120^{\circ}$ F and  $140^{\circ}$ F for 3 days before testing. Table III lists the laboratory test results for the project job mixes.

#### TABLE III FOAMED ASPHALT MIX DESIGN HR-257 MUSCATINE COUNTY

Test	1		Mix No.	2		3
Asph.	AC-5,	- 400-600	poises	(H.L.=19	sec; F.R.=11	.3)
% Asph. in Mix	4.2			4.2		5.6
% Moisture by wt. agg.	6.8			8.0		7.3
% of Optimum Moisture	77			91		83
No. of Marshall Blows	50			50		50
Marshall Stability - Lbs.	698	650	555	620	425	452
Flow - 0.01 In.	5	6	8	9	7	7
Specific Gravity (cured)	2.03	2.02	2.0	2.03	2.02	2.02
Specific Gravity (dry)	2.03	2.02	2.0	03 2.02	2.02	2.02
% voids - Calc.	16.8	17.1	16.	.8 17.0	15.7	15.7
Curing Temp (3 days), <sup>O</sup> F	120	140	12(	) 140	120	140

Recommendation - 6.8% and 8.0% moisture

4.5% and 5.5% asphalt cement

#### Plant Operation

The plant accepted for use was a Colenco brand stationary pugmill mixer specially designed to produce foamed asphalt (Figure 2). Special provisions for equipment are in Appendix A.



Figure 2 - Stationary Plant With Pugmill Mixer for Foamed Asphalt Production

Aggregate was proportioned through a split bin system. A water feed system above the material conveyor supplied the required amount of water to the aggregate on the conveyor belt (Figure 3). The water for foaming the asphalt cement was delivered through a separate water pump system. The "Foamix" spray head, located above the pugmill, combined asphalt cement at 340<sup>O</sup>F and a volume of cold water equal to 2 percent of the asphalt volume. The aggregate was sprayed with the foamed asphalt cement as it entered into the twin-shaft pugmill. The mixer produced 180 tons of mix per hour. At this rate the mixing time in the pugmill was less than 12 seconds. Mix storage bins were not provided, so when no plant-to-project haul trucks were available, mix was stored in a stockpile at the plant site. The stockpile site was surfaced with foamed asphalt to prevent stockpile contamination. All the mix produced during a day was placed the same day.



Figure 3 - Aggregate Water Application System

#### CONSTRUCTION

Illinois-Iowa Blacktop, Inc. of Rock Island, Illinois, was awarded the project. A copy of the project contract is in Appendix B. Construction began in August 1983. The special provisions for the project are in Appendix A.

#### Preparation of the Subbase

To provide a uniform subbase for paving, the 1 1/2 inch built-up seal coat over a 1 1/2 inch limestone base was scarified full depth, pulverized, relaid and compacted. Scarifying and relaying the roadbed also provided a permeable subbase which allowed water from the fresh foamed asphalt to drain away. Muscatine County maintenance personnel did this portion of the work.

#### Foamed Asphalt Placement

The contractor began production of foamed asphalt on August 25, 1983 and finished on September 29, 1983. The mix was similar in color to the wet aggregate with little visible evidence of asphalt present in the mix.

Haul distance from the plant to the project was approximately 20 miles. The mix was placed in two 2-inch lifts one lane at a time. Construction began at the west end with section 1. Construction of one section was always completed before the start of another. Loaded trucks traveled on the freshly laid first lift during placement of the second lift. A Barber Greene tamperbar paver was used to place the mix. The mix laid similar to hot mix, but did not flow like hot mix from the trucks or through the paver (Figure 4). Each time the paver stopped, a depression was created in the mat. Mix was raked into the depressions and along the center line joint. However, raking the mix caused the material to segregate.



Figure 4 - Foamed Asphalt Placed with a Barber Greene Paver

Compaction was accomplished using a static steel drum roller with a compressive force greater than 200 pounds per inch width. A minimum of four passes was required. The mix tended to shove ahead of the roller drum and a change of direction by the roller produced a bump. The rolling also created hairline transverse cracks at approximately 1-inch intervals. The use of a rubber tired roller and subsequent traffic tended to heal the cracks. The specified density was easily achieved.

After compaction, a pen easily could be pushed through the 4-inch mat to the subbase. As the pavement cured, the binding properties of the asphalt cement became stronger. Curing appeared most rapid during hot, sunny days. The compacted mat changed from a grayish aggregate color to a black color, simular in appearance to asphalt concrete, within 1 to 2 days.

A tack coat was initially planned between the pavement lifts. It was eliminated upon the recommendation of personnel with foamed asphalt experience. During the shouldering operation, the top lift of asphalt on the left side of section 6 began sliding off the first lift. Section 6 was the first section to not have the first and second lifts placed the same day. There was a 5-day delay before the second lift was placed. During this time it rained on the project. For the remainder of the project (sections 8 and 9), a CSS-1 emulsion tack was placed between lifts.

#### Correction of Problems

The plant operated correctly the first day of production. During the night, lightening struck the plant, causing malfunctions the next day. The asphalt metering system first delivered too much asphalt cement to the mix. After adjustments, the metering system delivered too little asphalt cement to the mix. The major portion of sections 2 and 3 was paved before the problem

was corrected. The top lift of the right side of sections 2 and 3 (low A.C. content) had to be removed and replaced. The remainder of the two sections was unacceptably rough. The contractor placed a 1.5 inch thick third lift of foamed asphalt from Sta. 165 to Sta. 194 (sections 2 and 3) to obtain a relatively smooth surface.

To correct the slippage problem on section 6, the top lift of the left side was removed. Due to a delay in correcting the problem, a hot asphaltic concrete mix was used to replace the removed lift. The special provisions specified a minimum 7-day cure for foamed asphalt prior to seal coating. Using hot A.C. concrete allowed the seal coating operation to begin several days sooner.

From the start of mix production, the mixing time in the pugmill and the resulting amount of particle coating were discussed. Several paddles were reversed on the mixing shafts and a dam was placed across the mixer opening to hold the material longer in the pugmill. An anti-foaming counter agent was also added to the asphalt cement to increase the foam half-life for mix placed on section 9. These efforts increased the particle coating only slightly. The effect of extending the mixing time in the pugmill to increase the aggregate coating was not evaluated.

#### Surface Treatment

The contractor applied the single chip seal coat on October 3 through 5, 1983, on sections 3 to 9. A CRS-2 emulsified asphalt was placed at a rate of 0.29 gal per sq yd. A 3/8-inch limestone cover aggregate was spread at 23.6 1bs per sq yd. The project plans specified a double chip seal coat for sections 3, 4 and 5. The second seal wasn't placed until September 5, 1984 due to the late completion of the first seal. CRS-2 emulsified asphalt was placed at the rate of 0.28 gal per sq yd and 3/8-inch limestone aggregate was spread at 25 lbs per sq yd. Sections 1 and 2 received a fog seal on October 10, 1983. An application of 0.05 gal per sq yd of 1:1 dilute CSS-1 emulsified asphalt was used. Because the surface of Section 1 began to ravel after the fog seal was placed, a single chip seal coat was added at the time Sections 3, 4, and 5 received their second seal.

#### CONSTRUCTION TESTING

Project testing consisted of:

- 1. Moisture and gradation determination of the aggregates.
- Foam half-life and foam ratio determination of the foamed asphalt cement.
- 3. Field and laboratory density determination.
- Moisture loss determination during cure.

#### Aggregate Moisture and Gradation Determination

Prior to plant start-up each day, the moisture content of each aggregate stockpile was determined. The amount of additional water needed to reach the target moisture content was then calculated. During production, wet aggregate was obtained from the conveyor belt and tested to verify the combined aggregate moisture content. Moisture determinations are in Appendix C.

The water content was difficult to control because of variations in stockpile moisture and in the plant water metering system. When the moisture content was found to be incorrect, the water pump was adjusted to the correct setting. With close attention, the project mixing moisture content could have been controlled to within 0.75 to 1.00 percent of target.

Both aggregates are by-products of concrete aggregate production. As such, the gradations sometimes varied 1 to 2 percent more than gradations for material produced to meet Iowa DOT standard specifications.

#### Foam Half-Life and Foam Ratio Determination

The quality of the foamed asphalt cement was checked at least twice daily. A spray nozzle was attached to the outside of the pugmill for asphalt sampling. The nozzle had to be heated and 5 gallons of foamed asphalt flushed through the system before a sample could be obtained.

Foam half-life, the time required for the foamed asphalt cement to deflate to half its initial volume, was checked by filling a 5-gallon container. Timing of the half-life started after the sample was obtained. A ruler was used to determine the point of half volume. The half-life usually ranged from 25 seconds to 35 seconds with twenty seconds specified as the minimum half-life.

The foam ratio, a ratio of the original asphalt cement volume to the volume of the asphalt in the foamed state, was checked using the same 5-gallon sample used for the half-life determination. Suggested plant control specifications from Conoco recommended the following:

Establish limits for asphalt mass at foam volume ratios of 8 and 15 for foam sample cans. Measure sample container inside diameter and height to the brim or a discernable fill line near it and calculate volume in cubic inches (or cubic centimeter). Divide calculated volume by eight and convert to maximum allowed mass of asphalt in 1b (or g) for foam sample (minimum foam ratio) using 0.036 lb/inch<sup>3</sup> (or 1.0 g/cc). Likewise, divide calculated volume by 15 and convert to minimum allowed mass of asphalt in 1b (or g) for foam sample (maximum foam ratio). These calculations consider hot asphalt to have a specific gravity of 1.0.

The foam ratio was to be between 1:8 and 1:15. Rather than weigh the sample, the plant inspector allowed the sample to deflate totally and measured the distance from the fill line to the deflated asphalt. The ratio of the depth of asphalt to depth of fill line is the foam ratio. Accuracy of the volume by measuring the asphalt depth was  $\pm$  100 cc for a sample weight of 2400 grams to 1100 grams. The foam ratio ranged from 1:10 to 1:14 on the project.

#### Field and Laboratory Density Determination

Field densities were obtained by both the nuclear gauge method and the rubber balloon method. Appendix D contains the results of the density testing. At most locations the nuclear and balloon tests were run at different times. Nuclear tests were taken 1 to 2 feet from the balloon "rat hole".

Variations in gradation, moisture content, asphalt content and degree of compaction were all factors which may have caused the wide range of densities.

Target densities were determined from mix obtained at the road. The samples were compacted at room temperature into Marshall specimens at the lowa DOT, District 5, Materials Laboratory and at I.S.U. Table IV lists the target densities obtained from specimens cured for 3 days at 150<sup>0</sup>F.

#### TABLE IV TARGET DENSITIES MARSHALL SPECIFIC GRAVITIES

Section No.	Specific Gravity
1	2.07*
2	2.06*
3	2.06*
4	2.08
5	2.14
6	2.08
7	2.10
8	2.10
9	2.07*
*Determined at I.S.U.	

Field densities exceeded a specific gravity of 2.10 at 50 percent of the locations when determined by the balloon method and 66 percent of the locations when determined by the nuclear method. The number of field densities exceeding 100 percent of target density indicates a need for a more realistic target density determination.

The moisture loss from the base versus time after base placement was determined from samples taken during density testing (Figure 5). Moisture rapidly evaporated from the base during the sunny,  $80^{\circ}$  to  $90^{\circ}$ F weather. Within 3 to 4 days after placement, most of the water had left the foamed asphalt. Samples taken after 4 days generally had moisture contents ranging from 1 to 3.5 percent. Rain; cool, cloudy weather; and shade tended to slow moisture loss.



Figure 5 - Base Moistures Loss Over Time

#### SUGGESTED CONTROL AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS CHANGES

Recommended changes for future foamed asphalt projects in Iowa are:

 Do not accept a split-bin aggregate proportioning system for two aggregate mixes.

> The plant accepted for the project had a split-bin system. It was evident the system did not provide the desired proportioning accuracy.

 Require the quantity of water for mixing be controlled within 1.0 percent of the target moisture content.

> Without covered stockpiles, the moisture content was difficult to maintain. Lee found that 65 to 85 percent of optimum moisture content (AASHTO T-99) constituted the optimum mixing moisture content for foamed asphalt mixtures. With close inspection, water content could be controlled within the optimum mixing moisture content range.

3. Specify a minimum mixing time in the pugmill.

The plant production was limited only by the maximum rate at which the limestone screenings would pass through the bin gate. It is felt that increasing the mixing time in the pugmill would allow more thorough mixing of the two aggregates and a more even distribution of asphalt throughout the mix.

 Require trial mixing before project start-up and during the project as requested by the engineer.

> Conoco provides ranges for foam ratio and half-life to produce proper foamed asphalt. However, it appeared that within the ranges specified, mix quality could vary.

Trial mixing would provide for a target foam ratio and half-life. Trial mixing would also allow the engineer to determine a proper mixing time.

5. Specify compaction to continue until 100 percent of target dry density is achieved as measured by balloon or nuclear methods. Target dry density shall be determined from a test strip compacted to maximum density.

> The field placement and compaction of the foamed asphalt imparts a different type of compactive effort than Marshall or Proctor compaction. Cores taken from the roadway have asphalt relatively well dispersed throughout the aggregate. Specimens compacted and cured in the laboratory with field mix are gray with a black, spotted appearance. The asphalt appeared to be unevenly dispersed.

 Specify a cutoff date of October 1 for foamed asphalt construction in lowa.

#### PROJECT COSTS

The in-place bid price for the 4-inch foamed asphalt base, including a single chip seal, was \$27.64 per ton using a 4.5 percent asphalt cement mix. Illinois-Iowa Blacktop placed 2600 tons of Type B asphaltic concrete base adjacent to the research project in 1984. The bid price was \$28.14 per ton for the 5.35 percent asphalt cement hot mix. Commonly, research projects involving unique construction techniques and sections of short length will be bid high by contractors. The frequent changeovers and uncertainty of success result in the higher prices.

#### CONSTUCTION SUMMARY

The project was completed with only a few construction problems. The most significant problems were:

- 1. Difficulty controlling mixing moisture content.
- 2. A variable degree of compaction.
- 3. A rough riding surface.
- 4. Slippage between the base lifts on one section.

The problems were basically caused by a lack of knowledge and experience with foamed asphalt.



Mixing Time-15 seconds

Mixing Time-10 minutes

Figure 6 - Comparison of Laboratory Mixing Time on Degree of Particle Coating by Foamed Asphalt

#### EVALUATION

The foamed asphalt base was evaluated for a period of five years. Testing included annual crack surveys and road rater tests and biannual road meter tests. Also, visual surveys of the general condition of the pavement were made each year.

#### Crack Survey

The annual crack surveys revealed a progressively increasing level of short, tight, longitudinal cracks extending throughout much of the length of the pavement. The cracking began along the shoulder and progressed inward, sometimes reaching beyond the centerline. It was not uncommon to find the cracks extending to the quarter point on either side of the pavement and running longitudinally several hundred feet along the length of the pavement.

Very little transverse cracking or large, open, longitudinal cracking occurred. The large majority of the cracks were of the short, longitudinal, almost alligator-like variety described previously.

Some sections exhibited less cracking than others. In order to quantify the cracking performance of each section a rating system was established. Three researchers familier with the project were asked to rank each section, giving the best section a 9 and the worst section a 1. The three scores given to each section were then added. The total was then divided by the maximum possible rating, 27, to obtain the section's crack rating. Table VI lists the results of this system analysis.

#### TABLE VI CRACK SURVEY SECTION PERFORMANCE RATING

Section		Rank		Total	Crack Rating Percent
1	5	3	3	ΙI	40.7
2	9	9	8	26	96.3
3	8	8	9	25	92.6
4	7	7	6	20	74.1
5	6	6	7	19	70.4
6	2	2	2	6	22.2
7	1	1	1	3	11.1
8	4	5	5	14	51.9
9	3	4	4	11	40.7

The better performance of sections 2 and 3 was due to the fact these sections had an additional 1.5 inch lift of foamed asphalt placed during construction. Also, a major reason for the poor crack performance of sections 6 and 7 was the inadequate bonding between lifts. As stated earlier, the second lift on these sections was placed five days after the first lift. No tack coat was used to bond these lifts. Apparently, a dirt film formed over the first lift and prevented bonding. A significant amount of slippage cracks had formed soon after construction. It is believed the decrease in base strength due to inadequate bonding also resulted in the excessive longitudinal cracking of these sections.

#### Road Rater

The road rater is used to measure pavement and subgrade strength. The output is in terms of a structural number. A structural number of 3 is equivalent to 6 inches of new portland cement concrete.

Road rater tests were run annually on each section. The results show sections 2, 3, 8, and 9, had 80% structural numbers of 2.0 and above each year. In 1984, sections 1, 4, 6, and 7 had 80% structural numbers ranging from 1.65 to 1.95. These values dropped to between 1.45 and 1.60 in 1987. Section 5 had values between these two sets of sections (See Appendix E). All of these values should support local passenger car and light truck traffic. However, very few 18 KIP E.S.A.L. vehicles would be abe to travel the road each day should the pavement be expected to last twenty years.

#### Road Meter

The road meter measures the smoothness of the pavement. Output is in terms of a Present Serviceability Index (PSI) value ranging from 0 to 5. A value of 5 represents a perfectly smooth surface (like glass) and a 0 represents an extremely rough surface. A new asphalt cement concrete pavement surface would be expected to have a PSI of at least 4.0. Road meter runs were made biannually on the project as a whole (no attempt was made to test the individual sections). Results are shown in Table VII.

#### TABLE VII ROAD METER RESULTS

1		PSI Value	
Year	Left Lane		Right Lane
1984 1986 1988	2.88 2.94 2.96		2.84 2.85 2.93

These values obviously are not as high as would be expected from a new asphalt pavement. However, they are well above the level which would indicate rehabilitation is required.

#### ANALYSIS

Initial observation of the crack survey results would seem to indicate the foamed asphalt did not perform well. However, after investigating the causes of the cracking, it becomes apparent the foamed asphalt base was not the most important factor. Several factors are believed to have led to the cracking.

First, due to a lack of available R.O.W. the shoulder width was very narrow in many places. The lack of shoulder offered little support for the edge of the pavement. The lack of support allowed the edge to be separated from the rest of the pavement by traffic loads near the shoulder, resulting in a series of small, longitudinal cracks. As the outer edge of pavement was separated, a new unsupported edge was formed. This, in turn, was separated from the pavement. This pattern was repeated and the cracking progressed toward the centerline.

Second, the type of crack pattern, a series of small, tight, interconnected longitudinal cracks similar in appearance to alligator cracking, suggests a major cause of the cracking was due to poor subbase and/or subgrade support. There were several areas along the left lane where drainage was inadequate. Water would be held in the ditch and left to seep into the subsurface layers. This would weaken the subbase and subgrade and lead to the alligator crack pattern found on the surface.

Also, there were very few transverse cracks or wide, open longitudinal cracks. Visual inspections did not uncover any significant rutting problems. If the foamed asphalt base was structurally inadequate, this transverse and open longitudinal cracking and rutting would have been more severe.

#### CONCLUSIONS

After five years of service and evaluation, several conclusions can be made concerning the performance of the foamed asphalt bases.

- The foamed asphalt process can work as shown by the excellent performance of Sections 2 and 3.
- 2. Foamed asphalt base requires a well compacted subgrade and a road profile suitable for good drainage of water. Test section failures were mostly due to a poor subgrade and subsurface moisture.
- 3. When the base is placed in two or more lifts, extreme care must be exercised to insure adequate bonding is achieved between lifts.

Any future research with foamed asphalt should include various asphalt depths in order to determine a thickness/strength relationship for foamed asphalt.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

The success of this project, especially sections 2 and 3, shows that foamed asphalt paving can be successfully used on secondary roadways to construct a stable base from nonspecification materials. The performance of sections 6 and 7 show debonding can result between lifts not placed the same day and not tack coated. Future projects involving foamed asphalt need to include various asphalt depths in order to determine an optimum foamed asphalt thickness.

Current low world oil prices probably makes the foamed asphalt paving technique inappropriate. However, as oil prices rise and quality aggregate supplies diminish, the process will become much more economical.

i i .

# APPENDIX A Special Provisions

÷

SP-494

# Iowa Department of Transportation

SPECIAL PROVISIONS FOR FOAMED ASPHALT CONCRETE BASE

Muscatine County Project FM-70(4)--55-70 Research Project IIR 257

#### July 6, 1983

THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS OF THE IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, SERIES OF 1977, SHALL APPLY TO THIS PROJECT EXCEPT AS AMENDED BY THE FOLLOWING ADDITIONS. THESE ARE SPECIAL PROVISIONS AND THEY SHALL PREVAIL OVER THOSE PUBLISHED IN THE STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.

494.01 GENERAL. The work on this project consists of the construction of a foamed asphalt concrete base, using fine limestone and sand, together with variations of surface treatment. This project is a demonstration research project and is based on research reported to the Iowa Highway Research Board under Project HR-212, "Treating Iowa's Marginal Aggregates and Soils by Foamix Process". This specification describes the foamed asphalt base and the variations in the surface treatment which are not described elsewhere in the specifications and modifications to other standard specifications relating to this project.

As the project is of a research nature, certain requirements may be changed by the engineer in order to make the project more meaningful.

Foamed Asphalt Concrete Base is a mixture of moistened, unheated aggregates, and asphalt cement, combined while the asphalt cement is in a foamed state.

The Continental Oil Company has proprietary rights to the foamed asphalt process and a royalty fee may be required to use this process. The royalty fee, if any, shall be paid by the contractor and will be considered Incidental to the construction of the base. Inquiries concerning this process may be directed to Conoco, Mr. Roy Hodson, 5717 East Ferguson Drive, Los Angeles, California, 90022, or telephone (213)723-2121. The asphalt cement shall be foamed and the materials mixed in a stationary plant with equipment and according to the procedure outlined by the Conoco Foamed Asphalt Process. The contractor may propose to the engineer the use of

an alternate, stationary plant designed for a similar mixing process. The proposal may be submitted prior to the letting date.

494.02 MATERIALS. The foamed asphalt base mixture shall meet the following requirements.

A. Aggregates shall be sand and crushed limestone. Limestone shall be from a source meeting quality requirements of Section 4126. Each aggregate shall be within the following gradation limits.

<u>Sieve Size</u>	Crushed Limestone Percent Passing	Sand Percent Passing
1/2 inch	100	100
3/8 inch	90-100	95-100
∦4	75-90	
#8	50-66	90-100
#30	28-40	40-55
#200	10-17	0-2

Asphalt Cement shall meet requirements of Section 4137 for Grade AC-S. The asphalt cement should not Β. contain an anti-foaming agent. Use of an anti-foaming counter agent will be required, if necessary.

C. Hixture. The aggregate shall be composed of 50 percent crushed limestone and 50 percent sand. The quantity of AC to be added will be set by the engineer, based on a job-mix formula, and this shall be controlled within 0.4 percentage points of the amount intended, based on tank stick measurements. The basic AC contents in the test sections are 4.5 and 5.0 percent. The moisture content shall be controlled according to 494.04.

494.03 EQUIPMENT. The contractor shall provide all equipment necessary for the construction of the base as

A. Proportioning Equipment shall meet requirements of 2001.01 and the following.
 A. Proportioning Equipment shall meet appropriate requirements of 2205.04.
 B. Mixing Plant. The mixing of the foamed asphalt base shall be accomplished in a stationary plant with a pugnill mixer specifically designed to produce foamed asphalt materials.

The plant shall have a positive-driven feed to proportion the aggregate from the bin or bins in a synchronized volume proportioning method with automatic controls. It shall be equipped with suitable pumps, proportioning, metering and weighing devices whose function shall be interlocked by automatic controls to assure proper foamed asphalt to aggregate ratio. The plant shall contain any other necessary equipment to produce the base mixture on a quality-controlled basis.

The foam chamber shall be mounted above the header spray bar and proper nozzles included to produce the necessary foaming action to assure maximum penetration of foam to aggregate.

The spray header shall be equipped with an external sampling valve with same nozzle size as in the header to conveniently take samples of foam in a 5-gallon container to accurately measure the foam halflife and stability. A plant designed for a similar mixing process or modifications to these requirements may be approved, as provided in 494.01.

C. Spreading Equipment. Article 2001.19 shall apply.

0. Compaction Equipment shall meet requirements of 2001.050, C, or F. A smooth faced, steel or pneumatic - tired roller shall be used for finish rolling.

494.04 PROPORTION AND MIXING. The materials shall be proportioned in such a manner that a uniform mixture results and each aggregate is controlled within 5 percent of the intended quantity and the asphalt cement and water is controlled within 0.4 percentage points of the percent intended. Blending of the aggregates shall be accomplished before the asphalt is added.

Prior to foaming, the asphalt coment shall be heated to belween 325 and 375 degrees F, unless otherwise directed by the engineer.

The asphalt cement shall be foamed immediately prior to mixing with the aggregates according to the procedure outlined by the Conoco Foamed Asphalt Process. The estimated quantity of water required for proper foaming is 2 percent of the liquid asphalt cement, by volume. Water shall be adjusted to provide a foam halflife of 26 seconds. as determined by the engineer.

The mixture is to be produced at 75 and 90 percent of optimum moisture, as designated on the plans for specific test sections. If the aggregate has less moisture than necessary for the mixture to meet the required percentage of optimum moisture, water shall be added to the aggregate prior to mixing with the foam. The water may be added through a metered and controlled spray system prior to entering the mixing chamber. Water shall not be added separately within the mixing chamber.

494.05 CONSTRUCTION. The construction of the foamed asphalt base shall be as follows:

A. Subgrade. The existing road surface is a soil-aggregate material covered by several bituminous seal coats. The County will scarify the existing surface to a depth of approximately 3 inches, and pulverize, relay. and compact the scarified material to proper crown and cross section. The contractor shall reshape the subgrade to proper crown, if necessary, and shall finisb roll the surface. B. Base. The contractor shall spread the foamed asphalt concrete base mixture to the width and thickness shown

on the plans. The intention of this specification is placement of the full thickness in one lift. However, the contractor may place the base in two lifts.

The mixture shall be promptly compacted. Compaction shall continue until maximum consolidation is achieved, and the engineer may utilize nuclear testing equipment to determine this. In any case, cumpaction shall be at least 94 percent of Marshall density. If placed in two lifts, compaction of the first lift shall be to at least 92 percent of Marshall density. The Marshall density will be based on tests by the district laboratory on fieldmixed samples.

Surface. Bituminous seal coats shall be applied in accord with the plans and Section 2307. A fog seal and с. a one-course and a two-course seal coat will be required, as designated on the plans.

D. Shoulders shall be constructed in accord with the plans and Article 2303.17.

494.06 LIMITATIONS. Foamed asphalt base shall be placed with an aggregate and air temperature of not less than 50 degrees F.

Should rain prevail and aggregate stockpiles retain moisture in excess of the required optimum moisture, time will be allowed to drain and dry the aggregate to meet requirements of the specifications. The foamed asphalt base shall be allowed to cure for 7 days before the bituminous surface treatment is applied,

or longer if so directed by the engineer.

494.07 METHOD OF MEASUREMENT. The engineer will compute the quantity of foamed asphalt concrete base, satisfactorily placed, as provided in 2303.19A. The engineer will compute the quantity of asphalt cement used in the foamed asphalt base, as provided in 2303.198.

494.08 BASIS OF PAYMENT. For the quantity of foamed asphalt concrete base furnished and placed, the contractor will be paid the contract price per ton. Such payment shall be full compensation for furnishing all aggregate and water, for mixing and placing, for subgrade work that is necessary, and for the cost, if any, for the right to use equipment and procedures protected by patents.

For the number of tons of asphalt cement used in the foamed asphalt concrete base, the contractor will be paid the contract price per ton.

Bituminous seal coats will be measured and paid for according to Section 2307.

Granular surfacing of shoulders will be measured and paid for according to 2303.19G and 2303.20G.

494-2

,

# APPENDIX B Project Contract

	ETTING DATE	11/9/17	3/17/2		LIQUIDA	TO DAMAGES_		\$140.00	L
-	PECIAL PROV	7/6/83 52-49	4 7/6/A	1 SP-44	<u>_}17_17</u>				
- D	ATE STARTED			10		)	CERT. COMP_	11-2	83
			,	סדעתי	ACT				
-		<b></b>	<u> </u>	UNIN	AU1	N0- 2	3452		
г	WE OF HOME A SP	H. CEMENT CONC	- PAV'T.	(	PROJECT H	<u>. FM-70</u> IER АПІ	(4)5 060	5-70 084677	ALO
		ON SECON	PARY ROAT	FRON	NEAR TH	MUSCA	TINE T	HE SE 1/	u
-	SEC- 15	-76-3 NORTHEAS	TERLY 4-2	DILES	TO NEA	R THE E	1/4 5	OF- SEC.	6-76-2
T	HIS AGREEMENT	MADE AND ENTERED BY AND BI	TWEEN THE	COUNTY	QF MUS	CATINE	IQWA_		
ILĻ	W01-210W	A BLACKTOP. IN	C. OF R	0CK 15	LAND, I	LLINOIS		PARTY OF THE	05 PART AND
	ARTY OF THE SECON	PART							
CCOMP	ETH THAT THE PART ONSTITUTING & PART ANCE WITH THE PLAN	Y OF THE SECOND PART FOR A OF THIS CONTRACT HEREBY INS ARD SPECIFICATIONS THERE	ID IN CONSIDERATIO	UCT VARIOUS I	TENS OF WORK	0 0P TO SU	PAYABL PPL / VARIOU	LE AS SET FORTH	SUPPLIES IN
TEM NO.		ITEN		QUANTIT	Y	UNIT	UNIT P	RICE	ANOUNT
L	PRIMER 0	R TACK-COAT BI	TUNEN		2.750	EALS.		• 85	5.33
5	DA SE . FO	AN ASPHALT CON	CRETE		12-300	ZNOT		17.45	214-63
4	BINDER B	ITUNEN	(.).	5 20 10	22.167	GALS.		. 50	19.96
5	AGGREGAT	E. COVER. ON R	I SVE GAD	N -	980	TONS		14-60	14.308
7	SHOULDER	S-CRANULAR-SU	RF-AC-1NG- 0	F	34850	I UMP 7	nn.	10-03	37510
	3410 223					conr s			
17tr 324	PARTY OF THE SECO	MD PART CERTIFIES BY HIS SIG DE DF FORA AS ANETHOED IF A SI AND PLANS ART HERE THA	HATURE DE THIS CE I CABRE JE AND	HTRACT UND	ER PAIN OF PEI	IAL TIES FOR F	ALSE CERTIFIC	CATION, THAT HE	HAS COMPLIED
176 124	PARTY OF THE SEC U-ID OF THE SEC SAO SPECIFICATION	MO PART CERTIFIES BY HIS SIC DOE DY KOWA AS AWENDED IF AN S AND PLANS ARE HEREET MA	MATURE ON THIS CO PULCABLE DE A PART OF AND	THE BASIS OF	ER PAN OF PEI THIS AGREDIES	IALTIES FOR F	ALSE CERTIFIC	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE	HAS COMPLIED GIFICATIONS IS NO
1712 324 LE m T	PARTY OF THE SEC JUST OF THE STOCE SAND SPECIFICATION HE OFFICE OF THE F THLT IN COMPORENTION TO THE COMPONENT OF TO	MO PART CERTIFICS BY HIS SO DOE OF FOW A SA MENDOR O IF A SAND PLANS ARE NEREBY MA SARTY OF THE FOREGONE THE TOM OF THE FOREGONE THE I S STECIFICATIONS THE MOON	MATURE ON THIS CO INCLOBLE DE A PART OF AND EN DATE OF	HTRACT UND THE BASS OF T PART HERES	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS AGREDIES JUNE 30 TY AGREES TO P CONDITIONS AS	ALTIES FOR F T. AND A TRUE AT THE PARTY ST FORTH IN 1	ALSE CERTIFI	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROM	HAS COMPLIED O FICATIONS IS NOT
The P	PARTY OF THE SECO JUIN OF THE SECO SAND SPECIFICATION HE OFFICE OF THE F THAT IN CONSOCRA REQUERTED ACT	MD PART CERTIFIES BY HIS SIG DOE DF HOMA AS AMENDED IF A IS AND PLANS ARE HEREBT MA HARTY OF THE FIRST PART UND THO OF THE FOREGOING THE SPECIFICATIONS THE MADUN EE THAT THE MOTHCE AND HIS 1977 THE MOTHCE AND HIS	MATURE ON THIS CO "FLICABLE DE A PART OF AND ER DATE OF "ARTY OF THE FIRST TRUCTORS TO BLOO TRUCTORS TO BLOO TRUCTORS TO BLOO TREFCIAL METODATA	SHTRACT UND THE BASIS OF T PART HERE JECT TO THE GESL THE PROT	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS AGRE DIRE JUNE 30 TY AGREES TO P CONDITIONS AS MOSAL FILED NI THOT DIRE	ALTIES FOR F T. AND A TRUE I J J A A TRUE AT THE PARTY ICT FORTH IN I REIN. THE GENE	SUCCENTION COPY OF SAA	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROM ATIONS TCATIONS OF THE LED PLANS LF AN	HAS COMPLIED OF CATIONS IS NOT PTLY AND ACCORD KORA DEPARTMENT ON AD PAUL
The 124	PARTY OF THE SEC . J'AD OF THE 195 CC SAND SPECIFICATION THE OFFICE OF THE F THIT IN COMPOSE ATTACH FOR O [ 4 ]55-	MO PART CERTIFIES BY HIS SIG SOE OF HOWA AS AWENDED IF A SARD "LANGS ARE HERE THA MARTY OF THE FIRST PART UNC TON OF THE FIRST PART UNC TON OF THE FOREGOING THE 45 SPECIFICATIONS THE AMOUNT 1977 TOGETHER IN T 20	HATURE ON THIS CO PLICABLE DE A FART OF AND ER DATE OF TANTY OF THE FIRS TRUCTIONS TO BODO I SPECIAL PROVISC TOETHER 41		ER PAIN OF PER THIS ACRE DIRE JUNE 30 THAGHES TO P CONDITIONS AS TOSAL FILED NI TOGETHER III ATT'S PERFORM	ALTIES FOR F IT, AND A THUE IN 1983 AY THE PARTH IET FORTH IN THE ARTHE GENER. IN THE GENER.	ALSE CERTIFY OF THE SECONCINE THE SECONCINE TERAL SPECIFICAL AND DETAIL	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROM ATIONS TEATIONS OF THE LED PLANS. IF AN URT HEREDF, AND	HAS COMPLIED OF CATIONS IS NO PTLY AND ACCOME NORA DEPARTMEN (Y., FOR SALD FROJI TOGETHER WITH T
LE III 124 The J24 The J24 The J24 The J24 The J24 The J24 The J24 The J24 The J24 The J24	PARTY OF THE SEC 	MO PART CERTIFIES BY HISSO DOE OF FOR AS ANELHORD IF A HIS AND PLANS ARE HEREBY MA ARTY OF THE FOREGOND THE TODE OF THE FOREGOND THE OF THE FOREGOND THE BOT THE MOTICE AND INS 1977 TOGETHER HIT TO CONTRACT BETWEEN THE FAM IDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY TH	MATURE ON THIS CO PLICABLE DE A PART OF AND EN DATE OF. ANTY OF THE FIRS INUCTIONS TO BIOD INUCTIONS TO BIOD INTES HERETO E PARTIES OF THIS	T PART HERE T PART HERE UECT TO THE ERS. THE PROM WS ATTACHED TH SECOND PA CONTRACT TH	ER PANK OF PER THIS AGREDIES JUNE 30 ODNOT TOWNS AS POSAL FILED HI TOGETHER BI ATT'S PERFORM UNT THE ADOVE	ALTIES FOR F IT. AND A TRUE IN USE PARTH IST FORTH IN 3 REIN. THE GENER. UNICE BOND A WORK DIALL B	ALSE CERTIFY OF THE SECONDARY THE SECONDARY VERAL SPECIFICATION RE MADE A PA	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROMA TOATS TCATIONS OF THE LED PLANS, IF AN UST HERE OF, AND D OR COMPLETED	HAS COMPLIED OF CATIONS IS NOT PTLY AND ACCORD NORA DEPARTMENT (Y, FOR SAUD PROJI TOGETHER WITH T W ACCORDANCE W
ите 324 I Tre 324 The F The F Th Th Th	PARTY OF THE SECT PARTY OF THE SECT JUB OF THE 13/5 CC SAO SPECIFICATION THE OFFICE OF THE F THAT WE COMPOSED AT THE OFFICE OF A AT THE FORMATION THE OFFICE AT CONSTITUTE THE AT THE SOUTHER OF AT CONSTITUTE THE	MO PART CERTIFIES BY HIS SIC DOE DO FORA AS ARENDED IF AN SARTY OF THE FIRST PART UND TION OF THE FIRST PART UND TION OF THE FIRST PART UND TION OF THE MOTICE AND INS L 1977 TOGETHER MIT 20 CONTRACT BETREEN THE PAR IDERSTDOO AND AGREED BY TH	MATURE ON THIS CO PLICARLE DE A PART OF AND ER DATE OF INSTR OF THE FIRS TS SET FORTH SUB TOGETHER AD THES HERETO E PARTIES OF THIS APPROX C OR	DITRACT UNC THE BASIS OF T PART HERE ULCT YO THE LESS THE PRO- SHIFT ATTACHED TH SECOND PA CONTRACT TH SECOND PACTOLO INJUSTED OF SCI	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS ACRE DIRE JUNE 3C TO AGREES TO P CONDITIONS AS TO SAL FILED NI TO SE PERFORM UT THE ADOVE TARTING DATS	ALTIES FOR F IT. AND A THUE AT THE PARTY ICT FORTH IS THE THE GENERAL IN THE GENERAL MARE BOND A MORE DIALL B	ALSE CERTIFI COPY OF SAU OF THE SECO THE SECOND TRAL SPECIFIC AL AND DETAI ARE MADE A PA LE COMMENCES PECIFIED COM	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROM ATIONS OT THE LED PLANS, IF AN URT HEREDF, AND D OR COMPLETED PLETION DATE HORKING DATS	XAS         COMPLIED           CFTCA TIONS IS NOT         FTLY AND ACCOME           PTLY AND ACCOME         NOTA           NOTA DEPARTMENT         FOR SALD PROJECTION           TOGE THER WITH T         NOTACE W
1776 324 1776 324 1776 7 1776 7 1787 7 1797 7 1707	PARTY OF THE SEC SAND SPECIFICATION THE OFFICE OF THE F THLT IN COMPORENT FOR TOP TOP THE F ANTIES HERE TO ACF ANTIES HE	MO PART CERTIFIES BY HIS SO DOE OF FOW AS ANE HORE OF A SARD PLANS ARE HEREBY MA SARD PLANS ARE HEREBY MA TOO OF THE POREGONE THE I SPECIFICATIONS THE AMOUNT SEE THAT THE NOTICE AND INS 1977 TOGETHER INT 1977 TOGETHER INT 20 CONTRACT BETYEES THE PAN DERSTDOO AND AGREED BY TH	MATURE ON THIS CO PLICABLE DE A PART OF AND ER DATE OF TS SCT FORTH SUB TO SCT FORTH SUB APPROX C DR	2NTRACT. UND THE BASIS OF T PART HERE UCET TO THE C GRS. THE PROM 3NS ATTACHED TH SECOND PA CONTRACT TH SECOND PA CONTRACT TH SECOND PA SHOPECHED S REMOVER OF SO 40 WORK	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS AGREE DIRE JUNE 300 CONDITIONS AS TOSAL FILED HI TOGETHER W ATTYS PERFORM UAT THE ADOVE STARTING DATE WAINE DATE	ALTIEL FOR F T AND A THUE AT THE PARTY AT THE PARTY IN THE GENERAL MORE BOND A MORE DIALL B C C C C C C C C C C	ALSE CERTIFI OF THE SECONCU THE SPECIFIC THE SPECIFIC THE SPECIFIC THE SPECIFIC THE SPECIFIC COMMENCES THE COMMENCES CT - 14	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROM ATIONS ICATIONS OF THE LED PLANS. IF AN URT HEREOF, AND D OR COMPLETED PLETION DATE MORENE CATS 1983	HAS COMPLIED OF CATOMS IS NOT PTLY AND ACCORD KORA DEPARTMER Y, FOR SAID PHOLI TOGETHER WITH T WE ACCOMONREE W
177 324 177 324 178 7 178 7 17	PARTY OF THE SEC PARTY OF THE SEC UP DO THE 135 KG SAO SPECIFICATIO WE OFFICE OF THE F THAT IN COMPOCEA REQUERTER OF ACT AT TON FOR O [ 4 ]SS INT CONSTITUTE THI AT IT IS PLATTHER OF LOWING SCHEDULE IS INTE ESSENCE OF		ANTURE ON THIS CO PLICARUE DE APART OF AND ER DATE OF "ARTY OF THE FIRS TS SET FORTH SUR ITTES MERETO E PARTIES OF THIS APPROX C DR D CONTRACT CORT THEIR HANDS FOR T	THE BASIS OF THE BASIS OF T PART HEREE ULCT TO THE CO MISS ATTACHED TH SECOND PA CONTRACT TH SECOND PA CONTRACT TH SECOND PA WORK OF WO WORK ALL OF THE FURMOSE	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS AGRE DIES JUNE 3C THIS AGRE DIES CONDITIONS AS POSAL FILED NI TOGETHER WI ATTY'S PEAFORM UT THE ADOVE THATTING DATE WANG DATS THAT THE MS AND CREATE ALPHELS 19	ALTIES FOR F IT. AND A THUE IT. AND A THUE IT. AND A THUE IT. THE PARTMIN IN THE GENER. UNICE BOND A MORE DIALL B CONDITIONS A ED TO THIS AN	ALSE CERTIFO COPY OF SAN OF THE SECONC WERAL SPECIFIC AL AND DETAI RE MADE A PA SE COMMENCESS STELLIFED COM MEMORER OF CT- 144 CAREED UPDM I OTHREE OTH	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROM ATIONS TCATIONS OF THE LED PLANS. IF AN URT HEREDF, AND D OR COMPLETED PLETION DATE NORSHIE DAYS J983 BY THE PARTIES I REALIDENTICAL IN	XAS COMPLIED           YAS COMPLIED           CFTLY AND ACCORD           PTLY AND ACCORD           NORA DEPARTMENT           YOR SAUD PROJI           TOGETHER WITH T           TOGETHER WITH T           WACCORDANCE W           REPETD           STRUMERTS AS OF
171:324 171:324 171:12 171:	PARTY OF THE SECT PARTY OF THE SECT JUIN OF THE 13/5 CC SAMO SPECIFICATION THE OFFICE OF THE F THE OFFICE OF THE F AT CONSTITUTE OF AT THE SECTOR ACT AT CONSTITUTE THE AT THE ASSOCIATION OF LOWING SCHEDULE K IS THE ESSENCE ON ESS WHEREOF TH COUNTY OF	MO PART CERTIFIES BY HISSIC SOLE OF FOR A SAME DOED IF A SOLE OF FOR A SAME DOED IF A SARTY OF THE FOREGONE ON THE TOM OF THE FOREGONE ON TO TOM OF THE FOREGONE ON TO COM FRACT THE MOUNT SAME TO THE FORE THE FAI TO THE COM TRACT BE TY TO TO THE COM TRACT AND THAT SA THE COM TRACT AND THAT SA	ATURE ON THIS CO PLICABLE DE A FART OF AND ER DATE OF INUCTIONS TO BODO I SPECIAL PROVISION PATTIES OF THIS D CONTRACT CONT D CONTRACT CONT A	DITRACT UNC THE BASIS OF T PART HERE ULCT TO THE LESS THE PRO- SECOND PA CONTRACT TH SECOND PA CONTRACT TO THE SECOND PA	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS AGRE DIEN JUNE 30 IN AGRES TO P CONDITIONS AS TOSAL FILED HI TOYS PERFORM UT THE ADOVE TARTING DATE WINNE DATS I NG DAY THE TEMIS AND IERCIA LAPPEL IT	ALTIES FOR F T. AND A THUE AT THE PARTY SET FORTH IN THE PARTY THE PARTY TH THE GENER. WARE BOND A MORE BOND A SOMO THALL B CONDITIONS A SOMO THIS AN	ALSE CERTIFI COPY OF SAU OF THE SECONCU VERAL SPECIFIC VERAL SPECIFIC VERAL SPECIFIC VERAL SPECIFIC VERAL SPECIFIC COMMENCES OF THE COMMENCES OF THE SECONCULS CALLON OF THE OTHER OF THE OTHER	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROM ATIONS TOTAL TOTAL TOTAL THE REDF, AND D OR COMPLETED PLETION DATE HORKING DATS ST THE PARTIES I SEA IDENTICAL MI	XAS COMPLIED           G PICA TIONS IS NOT           PTLY AND ACCOME           YULY AND ACCOME           NORA DEPARTMENT           YOR SALD PROJECTION           TOGETHER WITH T           NR ACCOMO ANICE W           INFORMATION           REPETD           STRUMER TS AS OF
1711 324 1714 1714 1714 1714 1714 1711 1711	PARTY OF THE SEC DATE OF THE SEC DATE OF THE INTO SAME SPECIFICATION THE OFFICE OF THE F THAT IN COMPOCEAN ATTACS HERE TO ACT ATTACS HERE TO ACT ATTACS HERE TO ACT ATTACS AND AND AND AND ATTACS AND AND AND AND ATTACS AND AND AND AND ATTACS AND AND AND AND ATTACS AND AND AND AND AND AND AND ATTACS AND AND AND AND AND AND AND ATTACS AND	THIS CORT RACT AND THAT SAT TO BE OF OWNER FOR CONTRACT UNC TO BE OF THE FOR CONTROL OF A SAND PLANS ARE HEREBT MA FARTY OF THE FOR CONTROL ON CONTROL TO BE FOR THE FOR CONTROL ON CONTROL STATE OF THE FOR CONTRACT AND THAT SA IDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY THE THIS CORT RACT AND THAT SAT IDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY THE THIS CORT RACT AND THAT SAT IDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY THE THIS CORT RACT AND THAT SAT IDENT OF	ANTURE ON THIS CO PLICARE, D DE APART OF AND ER DATE OF TARTY OF THE FIRS TS SET FORTH SUR TRUCTIONS TO BEO 4 SPECIAL PROVISE FRECINER AN E PARTIES OF THIS DECENTRACT CORT THEIR HANDS FOR T A	ONTRACT. UND THE BASIS OF T PART HERE ULET TO THE CONTRACT THE SECOND PA CONTRACT THE SECOND PA CONTRACT THE SECOND PA CONTRACT THE SECOND PA CONTRACT THE SECOND PA SECOND PA S	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS AGREE DIRE JUNE 30 TO AGREES TO P CONDITIONS AS TOSAL FILLED HI TOGETHER M ATTYS PERFORM UAT THE ADOVE THAT THE ADOVE TARTING DATE MAIN DATE THAT THE MAS AND THAT TE MAS AND THAT THE MAS AND THAT THAT THAT THAT THAT THAT THAT THAT	ALTIES FOR F IT. AND A TRUE AY THE PARTY IET FORTH IN THE GENER: MARE BOND A WORK DIALL B CONDITIONS A EED TO THIS AN	ALSE CERTIFI OF THE SECONC THE SECONC VERAL SPECIFIC VERAL SPECIFIC VERAL SPECIFIC COMMENCES MUNDER OF MUNDER OF CT- 14 CREED UPON I O THREE OTH	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROMA TOATIONS OF THE LED PLANS, IF AN URT HEREOF, AND D OR COMPLETED PLETTOR DATE BORNE DAYS J983 BY THE PARTIES I ER IDENTICAL RIS	
LE HT T THE J24 I THE J24	PARTY OF THE SEC SAND SPECIFICATION THE OFFICE OF THE F THUT IN COMPORENTION THE OFFICE OF THE F THE THE COMPOSE AND SOLUTION FOR ANTIES HERE TO ACP ANTIES HE	MO PART CERTIFIES BY HISSO SOL OF FOR AS ANELOND IF A IS AND PLANS ARE HEREBY MA SARTY OF THE FOREGONE THE TOM OF THE FOREGONE THE I (STECTIFICATIONS THE AMOUNT 1977 TOGETHER INT 1977 TOGETHER INT TOGETHER FIRST PART TOGETHER FIRST PART TOGET THE FIRST PART	ATURE ON THIS CI PLICABLE DE A PART OF AND ER DATE OF TIS SET FORTH SUB INUE TORS TO BOTHE FIRST TOGETHER AND APPEGRA PROVISE APPEGRA PROVISE OR I DE CONTRACT CORT A THE AND FOR T	CONTRACT. UND THE BASIS OF T PART HERE ULET TO THE ULET TO THE SHIELD HO PA CONTRACT TH SHIELD HO PA CONTRACT TH SHIELD HO RE SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD HO SHIELD	ER PAIN OF PEI THIS AGRE DIER OF AGREE DIER DONDITIONS AS DOSAL FILLED NI TOGETHER WI ATTYS PERFORM UAT THE ADOVE ITARTING DATE WINTE ORATION I A.G. DAY THE TE WIS AND IST AND -	ALTIES FOR F T. AND A THUE AT THE PARTY AT THE PARTY INC. A THUE THE PARTY INC. A THUE INC. A THUE IN	ALSE CERTIFI COPY OF SAN OF THE SECOND THE S	CATION, THAT HE O PLANS AND SPE MD PART, PROMA TOATS TCATIONS OF THE LED PLANS, IF AN URT HEREOF, AND D OR COMPLETED D OR COMPLETED D OR COMPLETED STATUS OATS A 1983 BY THE PARTIES I LEA IDENTICAL MI	

1

APPENDIX C Aggregate Moisture Content Determination

.

# AGGREGATE STOCKPILE MOISTURE CONTENT DETERMINATION

	COARSE AGG.	FINE AGG.
TIME	% MOISTURE	% MOISTURE
12:30 PM	1.3	4.4
7:00 AM	1.9	4.0
1:30 PM	3.4	4.4
6:30 AM	7.6	6.0
7:00 AM	3.5	
7:00 AM	5.6*	5.1*
12:00 PM	5.2*	5.5*
7:30 AM	5.2*	6.7*
8:30 AM	3.6	7.1
12:30 PM	6.7*	5.5*
3:00 PM	5.5	5.2
7:00 AM	6.0*	7.2*
9:00 AM	5.3	7.1
10:55 AM	6.6*	6.7*
12:00 PM	6.5	6.6
11:00 AM	5.5*	5.3*
PM	5.2	5.2
10:00 AM	5.2	5.9
	TIME 12:30 PM 7:00 AM 1:30 PM 6:30 AM 7:00 AM 7:00 AM 12:00 PM 7:30 AM 8:30 AM 12:30 PM 3:00 PM 7:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:55 AM 12:00 PM 11:00 AM	TIME       % MOISTURE         12:30 PM       1.3         7:00 AM       1.9         1:30 PM       3.4         6:30 AM       7.6         7:00 AM       3.5         7:00 AM       5.6*         12:00 PM       5.2*         7:30 AM       5.2*         7:30 AM       5.2*         7:30 AM       5.5         7:00 AM       5.5         7:00 AM       6.7*         3:00 PM       5.5         7:00 AM       6.0*         9:00 AM       5.3         10:55 AM       6.6*         12:00 PM       6.5         11:00 AM       5.5*         PM       5.2         10:00 AM       5.2

.

\* Moisture by pycnometer

#### COMBINED AGGREGATE MOISTURE CONTENT DETERMINATION AFTER ADDING WATER

DATE	TIME	% MOISTURE	% INTENDED
8/26	1:00	4.38,	6.75
8/29	10:30	$11.61^{1}_{2}$	8.10
8/31	11:00	10.502	8.10
9/1	10:00	7.12	6.75
9/2	12:00	6.42	6.75
9/7	11:00	10.00 <sup>2</sup>	8.1
9/8	1:00	9.78	8.1
9/9	2:00	9.16	6.75
9/23	1:30	7.33	6.75
9/26	11:40	7.47	6.75
9/27	9:10	7.80	8.10

Plant control not working
 Rain day before.

 $t_{\rm c}$ 

APPENDIX D Foamed Asphalt Field Densities

### FOAMED ASPHALT FIELD DENSITIES

Location	NUCLEAR GAUGE			RUBBER BALLOON			
	Date Tested	Percent Water	Dry Density (#/CF)	Date Tested	Percent Water	Dry Density (#/CF)	Placement Date
Sec. 1 141+00 5' Rt. 145+00 7' Lt. 151+50 4' Rt. 155+00 2' Rt. 159+90 9' Rt. 163+00 6' Lt. 156+00 2' Lt.	 9/1 9/1 9/1 9/1 9/1	 1.81 3.30  1.62	  133.6 134.6 139.1 138.3	9/1 9/1 9/1 9/1 9/1 9/1 9/1	1.81 2.20 1.45 1.16 2.35 1.34 1.08	126.1 134.5 128.6 132.4 134.3 133.0 142.2	8/25 8/25 8/26 8/26 8/26 8/26 8/26 8/26
Sec. 2 168+60 7' Rt. 176+00 5' Lt.	9/1 9/2		134.1 136.6	9/1 9/2	2.29 1.37	136.1 137.4	8/29 8/29
Sec. 3 181+00 8' Rt. 185+00 7' Lt. 189+00 3' Rt.	9/2 9/2 9/2	 	133.4 137.5 138.4	9/2 9/2 9/2	2.80 2.13 1.69	135.8 136.8 138.2	8/29 8/29 8/29
201+00 7' Lt. 203+00 9' Rt. 207+00 5' Lt. 212+00 2' Rt. 215+00 4' Lt.	9/2 9/7 9/7 9/7 9/7	4.29 2.15 2.43 1.83	135.4 133.5 132.2 130.5 132.1	9/2 9/2 9/2 9/2 9/2 9/2	5.50 7.80 3.60 3.20 4.60	133.7 129.1 132.9 132.1 133.0	8/31 8/31 8/31 8/31 8/31 8/31
Sec. 5 226+00 8' Rt. 229+00 3' Lt. 232+00 7' Rt. 238+00 6' Lt. 243+00 4' Rt.	9/7 9/8 9/8 9/8 9/8	2.68 1.88 2.90 1.48 1.44	133.7 134.1 128.6 131.6 135.5	9/7 9/7 9/7 9/7 9/7	1.58 1.89 3.67 1.25 0.96	140.0 128.5 130.4 128.8 129.8	9/2 9/2 9/2 9/2 9/2 9/2
Sec. 6 249+00 5' Rt. 258+00 5' Lt. 262+00 8' Rt. 265+00 2' Lt. 270+00 7' Rt.	9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9	2.06 1.93 2.34 1.55 1.52	124.6 132.0 127.0 133.3 128.0	9/8 9/8 9/8 9/8 9/8 9/8	4.87 3.08 4.51 1.95 3.24	125.4 128.8 125.4 126.1 128.7	9/7 9/7 9/7 9/7 9/7 9/7
Sec. 7 281+50 5' Rt. 288+00 8' Lt. 295+00 3' Rt. 301+50 6' Lt. 303+00 4' Rt.	9/27 9/27 9/27 9/28 9/28	3.68 4.78 1.32 1.39 4.44	125.0 130.9 133.8 128.4 128.5	9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9	5.61 4.42 2.74 3.90 4.69	122.2 129.4 133.2 127.5 130.6	9/8 9/8 9/8 9/8 9/8 9/8
Sec. 8 310+00 2' Rt. 313+00 8' Lt. 317+00 5' Rt. 321+00 3' Lt. 325+00 8' Rt. 337+00 3' Rt.	9/28 9/28 9/28 9/28 9/28 9/28 9/27	1.02 1.67 1.99 1.33 1.84 5.16	133.0 130.9 130.7 131.4 136.2 130.5	9/10 9/10 9/10 9/10 9/10 9/10 9/27	3.17 4.62 4.84 4.66 4.71 5.09	133.5 132.6 132.2 135.8 140.9 129.8	9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9 9/9 9/23, 9
Sec. 9 340+00 5' Lt. 345+80 7' Rt. 354+00 7' Lt. 360+00 2' Rt.	9/27 9/27  9/27	2.32 2.76  5.05	127.0 132.8  131.5	9/27 9/27 9/27 9/27 9/27	5.01 6.16 5.63 7.28	115.7 123.1 118.2 127.4	9/23, 9 9/23, 9 9/23, 9 9/23, 9 9/23, 9